#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,374

De

J.B. PARKER,

Appellant,

-v-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from Denial of Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences by the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Martin County

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PROSKAUER ROSE GOETZ & MENDELSOHN Attorneys for Appellant 300 Park Avenue New York, New York 10022 (212) 909-7000

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, J.B. Parker, respectfully submits his Initial Brief on appeal from the denial of his Rule 3.850 petition to vacate his conviction for murder and sentence of death. Largely through the erroneous introduction into evidence of a taped statement obtained from Parker in violation of his constitutional rights, Parker was convicted of first degree murder in connection with a highly publicized convenience store robbery, which culminated in the abduction and killing of Frances Julia Slater in April 1982.

In the early morning hours of May 5, 1982, Parker was arrested and charged as one of four alleged participants in the Slater case. Within hours of that arrest, the State obtained Parker's statement without recognizing his repeated requests for counsel of his own choice and in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to representation by conflict-free counsel.

At Parker's trial, the State contended that, on April 27, 1982, Parker and three co-defendants -- John Earl Bush, Alphonso Cave and Terry Wayne Johnson -- were involved in the armed robbery of the Li'l General Store in Stuart, where Slater worked as a cashier. According to the State, the four men kidnapped Slater, driving her to an isolated

Parker's trial, Slater was stabbed by Bush and shot by Parker. Id. At the separate prior trials of Bush and Cave, however, the State contended that each had fired the single shot that killed Slater. At separate trials, each of the defendants was convicted of first degree murder, and three received the death penalty.

Parker's conviction and sentence were chiefly the product of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, who failed to raise critical arguments and neglected to introduce relevant, favorable evidence, and now proffers weak excuses and "strategies" to explain his shortcomings at trial. In particular, trial counsel: (1) failed at the pretrial suppression hearing to raise the fact that the intern from the Public Defender's Office, who purported to represent Parker

References to record on the direct appeal of Parker's conviction and sentences are indicated by the initial "R" followed by the clerk's stamped page number.

This Court's affirmance of Parker's conviction and sentence of death also was the result of the ineffectiveness of appellate counsel. A petition for writ of habeas corpus on the basis of appellate counsel's ineffective representation is being filed concurrently with this appeal.

in connection with the giving of his taped statement, had a conflict of interest by virtue of his office's representation of a co-defendant that disqualified him from acting as Parker's attorney, and further failed to introduce evidence concerning Parker's requests, prior to making his statement, to obtain counsel of his own choosing (Point I); and (2) failed to make <u>any</u> efforts to conduct a reasonable investigation into Parker's background, or introduce evidence of Parker's character during the penalty phase of the trial (Point II).

Compounding the effects of these errors by trial counsel, was the decision by the court below to permit Parker's trial prosecutors to testify as "experts" on the effectiveness of defense counsel's representation at trial (Point IV). Indeed, those very prosecutors had contributed to Parker's wrongful conviction and sentence by withholding from the jury the fact that the State had argued, during the preceding trials of Parker's co-defendants, that the defendant then on trial was the triggerman who fired the single shot that killed Slater (Point III).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Parker's Taped Statement

A few hours after Parker was incarcerated at the Martin County Jail in Stuart, he asked to speak to County Sheriff James D. Holt. P 201-02, 986, 1109-10. Parker asked Sheriff Holt for permission to call his mother, so that he could determine whether she had retained a lawyer to represent him. P 202, 986. At the hearing on Parker's Rule 3.850 motion, Parker denied that he initiated contact with Sheriff Holt out of a desire to make a statement. P 201-02, 226. Parker testified, instead, that he simply wanted permission to call his mother to determine whether she had retained counsel. P 201-02. Parker was never allowed to make that telephone call.

Shortly after Parker's arrest on May 5, 1982, the office of the Public Defender of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in accordance with its normal procedures, had entered an appearance on behalf of Parker and two of his codefendants by sending letters to the State Attorney and

References to the record on the appeal of Parker's postconviction motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 are indicated by the initial "P" followed by the page number stamped by the court clerk.

police officials, including Sheriff Holt. R 1524-30. The letter advised Sheriff Holt that Parker and his co-defendants were entitled to representation by the Public Defender, and requested that "no contact be made with these individuals with regard to the taking of a statement . . . without first notifying" the Public Defender's Office so that it could "represent them effectively." R 1527.

Following his brief conversation with Parker, Sheriff Holt called Public Defender Elton Schwartz, told him that Parker desired to make a statement, and asked him to send a lawyer to meet with Parker. P 1156-57. Schwartz explained to Holt that members of his legal staff had already spoken with one of Parker's co-defendants, Alphonso Cave, about the underlying events. Id. Schwartz further explained that, on the basis of his staff's discussions with Cave, it was clear that a conflict of interest existed among the four co-defendants which prevented the Public Defender's Office from ethically representing Parker. Id.

Schwartz, recognizing his ethical responsibilities, at first declined to allow a lawyer from the Public Defender's Office to meet with Parker. P 1157. But Holt insisted.

Id. Schwartz agreed to send Steven T. Greene, an intern working in the Public Defender's Office, to speak with Parker. However, due to the apparent conflict of interest, and his

desire to avoid being disqualified from representing any of the defendants, Schwartz instructed Greene not to discuss the facts of the case with Parker, and told Greene simply to advise Parker not to make a statement. See P 110-11, 1157. This critical limitation placed on Greene's ability to counsel Parker resulted directly from Schwartz's determination, made before he dispatched Greene to meet with and "represent" Parker, that his office was precluded from providing such representation.

Upon his arrival at the Martin County Jail, Greene met privately with Parker. P 111-12, 203-06, 990. Parker told Greene that he wanted to call his mother to determine whether she had retained the lawyer he wanted to represent him. P 117-18, 204, 987, 990. Greene did nothing other than suggest to Parker that he not make any statements. P 112, 204-06, 986-87. Consistent with the instructions he had received, Greene did not discuss the facts of the case with Parker. Id. Greene never disclosed to Parker the Public Defender's conflict of interest or the decision not to represent him. See id.; P 1169-71.

The encounter among Parker, Sheriff Holt, two detectives and Greene, was taped. The transcript reveals that Parker repeatedly expressed his wish to contact his mother to determine whether she had hired a lawyer to represent him. P 1199-1201. Parker repeatedly stated that he wanted

that lawyer to represent him. Id. Greene and Holt ignored Parker's requests and told Parker that Greene had been appointed as his lawyer. P 990-91, 1199-1201. Parker was never permitted to call his mother, and ceased asking to contact her because his requests consistently had been ignored. P 208-09, 987-88. Parker, who had previously heard a tape of a statement by Bush implicating Parker as the triggerman, P 197, 984, proceeded to make a statement concerning the circumstances of the crime. The statement proved to be the centerpiece of the State's evidence against Parker.

Several weeks later, Robert R. Makemson, a private attorney, was appointed to serve as Parker's trial counsel.

R 1543. In September 1982, Makemson moved to suppress Parker's statement. Prior to the suppression hearing, however, Makemson made no effort to determine what had prompted Parker to abandon his reiterated request to call his mother in order to obtain a lawyer, and ultimately to make a statement.

P 988. Nor did Makemson permit Parker to testify at the hearing. Id. In support of the motion to suppress, Makemson did not even mention to the court the fact that Greene could not ethically represent Parker and that, as a result of this conflict, could not provide the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. The motion to suppress was denied. P 1187-90.

Parker's trial commenced on January 3, 1983. The State introduced Parker's taped statement into evidence as part of its case-in-chief, R 761, and also used it to impeach Parker's trial testimony. See P 1258-1331. The prejudicial use to which the State put Parker's statement was compounded by repeated references to the allegedly inculpatory nature of the statement in the State's summation. See P 1333-77. Parker was convicted of first degree murder on January 7, 1983. R 1201-03.

### The Sentencing Phase

Only three witnesses -- Elmira Parker (Parker's mother), 4 Douglas Smith (Elmira Parker's longtime companion), and Dr. Paul Eddy, a psychologist -- testified on Parker's behalf during the sentencing phase of the trial. See R 1220-1386. Makemson waived reliance on the statutory mitigating circumstance of "no significant history of prior criminal activity," in an attempt to preclude the State from introducing evidence of Parker's prior juvenile and criminal record. P 68; R 1205, 1695. Makemson also instructed Smith

Mrs. Parker was unable to testify at the evidentiary hearing because she had suffered a stroke which left her paralyzed. She has since died.

and Mrs. Parker not to say that Parker was nonviolent or anything else positive about Parker's character, explaining that he wanted to prevent the State from impeaching those witnesses on the basis of Parker's prior record. P 46, 67, 974, 982. Accordingly, Mrs. Parker testified only about the number of children she had, her occupation, her current marital status, Parker's birthplace and date of birth, and whether she had ever seen Parker's alleged co-perpetrators.

See R 1224-28. Smith merely testified that, to his knowledge, Parker did not normally associate with any of the co-defendants. R 1220-22.

As planned, Makemson elicited testimony from Dr. Eddy, an expert witness, that the psychological tests he performed on Parker indicated that Parker had a "passive" and "nonaggressive" personality. P 285-86, 1385-86. The door thus having been opened, the State was permitted to impeach Dr. Eddy's testimony with evidence of Parker's prior juvenile and criminal acts, quoting repeatedly from police reports. P 1398, 1404-05, 1478-86. The State also presented police officers who had personal knowledge of those acts as rebuttal witnesses. P 1464-77.

Having failed to understand that the State would be free to impeach Dr. Eddy's conclusion that Parker was "passive" and "nonaggressive" through introduction of evidence

of Parker's juvenile and criminal record, Makemson was wholly unprepared to rehabilitate his client through the introduction of positive character evidence. Makemson made no effort whatsoever to present additional mitigating testimony from any other witnesses. Indeed, Makemson had not even contacted any other potential character witnesses to testify on Parker's behalf in an effort to counteract the State's character attack on Parker. See P 283-85. On January 11, 1983, Parker was sentenced to death by electrocution. R 1507.

#### Appeal and Post-Trial Proceedings

On August 22, 1985, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentence of death imposed on Parker (reported at 476 So. 2d 134). This Court issued its mandate on December 3, 1985. On December 3, 1987, a Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 was filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit (Martin County). P 455-92. An evidentiary hearing on Parker's motion was held before Chief Circuit Judge Dwight L. Geiger on February 11 and 12, 1988. See P 1-359.

Footnote continued on next page

On February 9, 1988, Parker's counsel learned, for the first time, of the hearing scheduled for February 11 and 12. P 3. The court addressed the notice of hearing to an attorney at the firm representing Parker, without

Evidence was introduced concerning the circumstances surrounding the making of Parker's taped statement and the mitigation testimony that could have been introduced at the sentencing phase. P 38-41, 47-49, 238-39, 973-83, 1002-33.

The State's witnesses at the evidentiary hearing were Parker's trial attorney, and the former state attorneys who represented the State at Parker's trial, James Midelis, who currently serves as a county court judge, and Robert Stone. Notwithstanding their status as Parker's prosecutors, Stone and Judge Midelis were qualified as "experts" (over objection), P 149-50, 242-44, and gave their "expert opinions" that Makemson had not rendered ineffective assistance. See P 146-64, 240-52.

In a one-page order dated April 5, 1988, Judge Geiger denied the Rule 3.850 Motion. P 1599. A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 2, 1988. P 1608.

Footnote continued. . .

also adding the firm name. Because that attorney does not practice at the branch office to which the notice was addressed (a fact noted on all of the pleadings), the notice was returned to the court unopened. P 3-8. The court did not thereafter seek to notify Parker's counsel of the hearing date, but simply left the returned envelope unopened. Id. It was only through receipt of a copy of the order to transport Parker that his attorneys were informed of the eviden-tiary hearing. P 10. Parker's counsel thus was provided no opportunity to prepare for the evidentiary hearing.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### I. The Suppression Hearing

Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), Parker was deprived of his constitutional rights to the effective assistance of counsel at the suppression hearing concerning the taped statement. At the hearing, trial counsel failed to argue that the Public Defender's conflict of interest, which prevented the Public Defender's legal intern from discussing the facts of the case with Parker, deprived Parker of: (1) his right to the effective assistance of counsel; and (2) his right to consult with a lawyer upon invoking the right to an attorney.

the time of his statement, Parker was denied a fair opportunity to obtain counsel of his own choosing, and that comments made by Sheriff Holt to Parker exceeded the limits of permissible clarification of arguably ambiguous statements. Additionally, without any reasonable strategic justification, trial counsel failed to introduce Parker's testimony regarding what compelled him first to abandon his desire for a lawyer of his own choosing, and finally to make his statement.

Had the taped statement been excluded, there is a reasonable probability that: (1) the jury would not have found Parker guilty of first degree murder; (2) the jury

would not have voted to recommend the sentence of death; and (3) the trial court would not have imposed the death penalty. Moreover, without the evidence of Parker's involvement in the underlying crimes derived from his taped statement, his death sentence for felony murder violated the constitutional standards for imposition of the death sentence under <a href="Enmundv.Florida">Enmund V. Florida</a>, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), and <a href="Tison v. Arizona">Tison v. Arizona</a>, <a href="U.S.">U.S.</a>, 107 S. Ct. 1676 (1987).

#### II. The Penalty Phase

The actions and omissions of trial counsel at the penalty phase of the trial also deprived Parker of his right to the effective assistance of counsel. It being obvious that the State would be permitted to introduce evidence of Parker's juvenile and criminal history in response to a psychologist's testimony that Parker had a "passive" and "nonaggressive" personality, trial counsel should have conducted a reasonable investigation of Parker's background. See, e.g., Armstrong v. Dugger, 833 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1987); Thompson v. Wainwright, 787 F.2d 1447, 1450 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 107 S. Ct. 1986 (1987). Trial counsel's failure to conduct such an investigation resulted in an inability to introduce substantial, available mitigation evidence.

Absent this evidence, the jury and trial court were presented with a totally negative, one-sided portrait

of Parker, which greatly increased the chances that Parker would receive the death penalty. Parker thus was deprived of his right to be sentenced on the basis of all of his unique qualities and characteristics as a human being. See, e.g., Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 112 (1982); Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604-05 (1978). Such evidence would have both substantially rehabilitated the psychologist's testimony, and added crucial information regarding Parker's character and background for the consideration of the jury and trial court. See, e.g., Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523, 533-35 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 998 (1985); Porter v. Wain-wright, 805 F.2d 930, 934-38 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 107 S. Ct. 3195, 3196 (1987); Thomas v. Kemp, 796 F.2d 1322, 1324-25 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 107 S. Ct. 602 (1986); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984).

## III. <u>Inconsistent Positions</u>

At the trials of co-defendants Bush and Cave, the State contended that sufficient evidence had been presented at each trial for the jury to conclude, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant then on trial was the triggerman. No disclosure of this fact was made to the trial court or the jury at Parker's trial where, once again, the State contended that yet a third person, Parker, could be found, beyond a reasonable doubt, to have fired that single shot.

A prosecutor must seek to do justice. He has a responsibility to guard the rights of the accused as well as those of society at large. Fundamental fairness therefore mandates that the State should have apprised the Parker jury, and Parker's trial counsel, that it had prosecuted two other defendants under theories squarely inconsistent and contradictory to the State's position at Parker's trial. See Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 (1979); Drake v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1449, 1478 (11th Cir. 1985) (Clark, J., specially concurring), cert. denied, 106 S. Ct. 3333 (1986); United States v. Powers, 467 F.2d 1089, 1097 (7th Cir. 1972) (Stevens, J., dissenting), cert. denied, 410 U.S. 983 (1973).

The sentence of death recommended by the jury at Parker's trial was thus made under circumstances which render the decision unreliable, arbitrary, and capricious in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984); Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978); Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280 (1976).

This Court's recent decision in <u>Cave v. State</u>,

13 FLW 455 (July 1, 1988), is not to the contrary. The

point addressed on that appeal from the denial of Cave's

Rule 3.850 Motion was whether the State improperly suggested

to the Cave jury that Cave was the triggerman. The basis

for this contention was that the prosecution's position was

inconsistent with the evidence submitted at Cave's trial and

with the prosecutor's responsibility to provide a fair trial, and was contrary to the position the State had taken at the prior trial of co-defendant Bush.

No claim is made here of prosecutorial misconduct, and Parker does not contend that the inconsistent positions taken by the State precluded contention at Parker's trial that Parker was the triggerman. Rather, the point raised here is that Parker's due process rights were violated by the State's failure to disclose to the trial court and jury the factually inconsistent positions taken at the previous trials. The jury was entitled to know these facts and to take them into account in assessing the evidence against Parker and in determining whether the State -- which itself had demonstrated, through its inconsistent factual contentions, its uncertainty as to the identity of the triggerman -- had established, beyond a reasonable doubt, Parker's responsibility for firing the single fatal shot.

#### IV. The "Expert" Testimony

The court below erroneously permitted Judge Midelis and Robert Stone, the prosecutors at Parker's trial, to render "expert opinions" that Parker was not denied the effective assistance of counsel. Such testimony was received over defense counsel's objections that an expert opinion cannot be given on a question of law and that Stone and Judge Mide-

lis, as Parker's prosecutors, could not supply the disinterested testimony required of experts. This ruling was erroneous, and requires reversal of the denial of Parker's petition.

See Town of Palm Beach v. Palm Beach County, 460 So. 2d 879

(Fla. 1984); Gurganus v. State, 451 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1984);

City of Cooper City v. PCH Corp., 496 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

#### PARKER WAS DEPRIVED OF THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL ON HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS

On Parker's motion to suppress his taped statement, Makemson failed to introduce evidence regarding: (1) what Parker meant and intended to convey when he told Steven T. Greene and Sheriff Holt that he wished to call his mother to determine whether she had retained a lawyer to represent him; (2) whether Parker considered Greene his lawyer, or sought to be represented by another attorney; and (3) exactly what prompted him first to abandon his request to call his mother and then make his statement. Makemson also failed to assert the most fundamental legal arguments, establishing that Greene could not be the "counsel" to which Parker was entitled under the United States Constitution.

Makemson's failures amount to ineffective assistance

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