### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

J.B. PARKER,	)
Appellant,	)
v.	) CASE NO. 72,374
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellee.	SD J. WHITE
	NOA & 1388
	By Doputy Clark

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

impact of Maggard.9

This conclusion is substantiated by the issuance of Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984), approximately one month before Parker. In Jennings, supra, the trial court struck the State's attempt to explore prior criminal history, in direct examination of a doctor, at the penalty phase, concerning the basis of his opinion. Jennings, 453 So.2d, at 1114. This Court approved the trial court's striking of testimony, and denial of mistrial.

Id. While Jennings suggested that a defendant who "opened the door" to character, would risk admissible State cross-examination on prior crimes, Id., the decision did not implicitly or explicitly disapprove of the trial court's application of Maggard. Thus, the nature and result in Jennings, almost two years after Parker's trial, vindicates Makemson's then-held reliance on Maggard.

Appellant's approach would require the conclusion that Makemson was unreasonable, in failing to be clairvoyant, and anticipate the <u>subsequent</u> distinction of <u>Maggard</u> in <u>Parker</u>, and decisions like Muehlman v. State, 503 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1987). Such unantici-

The decisions cited by Parker, Initial Brief, at 47, were relied on in the <u>Parker</u> decision, <u>for the first time</u>, in applying the principles therein to the issues originally decided in <u>Maggard</u>, involving a capital sentencing proceeding. <u>Parker</u>, 476 So.2d, at 139. Appellant has <u>still not</u> cited a capital sentencing decision, that would have then led Makemson to doubt the application of <u>Maggard</u>, to Parker's benefit. As such, Appellant's view would have placed an obligation on Makemson, to clairvoyantly foresee <u>Parker</u> and subsequent decisons that distinguished <u>Maggard</u>. <u>Elledge v. Dugger</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 720, 721 (Fla. 1986).

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  The Muehlman decision confirms the conclusion, that until  $\underline{Parker}$ ,

pated clairvoyance was simply not a reason for the trial court to find Makemson's sentencing representation incompetent. Elledge v. Dugger, supra; Sullivan v. Wainwright, 695 F.2d 1306, 1309 (11th Cir. 1983); Spaziano v. State, 489 So.2d 720, 721 (Fla. 1986). This is particularly true, when the Record shows that Makemson had actually anticipated the risk of "opening the door" to prior crimes, by specifically instructing his sentencing witnesses not to speak about Parker as being a "good boy." (R, 1207-1212; P, 67-71). Both Stone and Midelis regarded the use of Dr. Eddy, as the "best approach" at sentencing, even though a "calculated risk." (P, 155-156, 254). Stone pointed out that any impeachment of Dr. Eddy was not as devastating in impact, as impeachment of family or friends would be, who knew Parker personally. (P, 254). The fact that Eddy did not do as well, on cross-examination, as Makemson legitimately expected, (P, 288), does not make Makemson ineffective.

Parker has additionally argued that Makemson did not prepare Dr. Eddy for such possible cross-examination, by criminal history, and failed to investigate Parker's character. It is precisely

the <u>Maggard</u> decision had not been previously distinguished, except by dicta, in <u>Jennings</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>Muehlman</u>, 503 So.2d, at 315-316. This Court distinguished the issue in <u>Muehlman</u>, by determining that the facts more closely resembled those in <u>Parker</u>, than in <u>Maggard</u>. <u>Muehlman</u>, at 316. Furthermore, <u>Muehlman</u> demonstrates that the <u>Maggard</u> decision remains viable, and that <u>Parker</u> in fact <u>expanded</u> the <u>analysis</u> of the impact of a "strategical waiver" by a defendant, of lack of prior crimes in mitigation, to considerations of the nature and relevance of the State's reference to prior crimes, and prejudice to a defendant. <u>Muehlman</u>, at 316. The older decisions cited in <u>Parker</u>, and relied on by Parker, Initial Brief, at 46, simply do not suggest that Makemson should have anticipated the Parker decision's expansion of Maggard.

because Makemson conducted such investigaion, and reviewed his strategic approach with Parker and his mother, that Makemson was able to attempt to preclude the State, from eliciting such information.

Makemson stated that because Dr. Eddy did not ask to be furnished with criminal history information, Makemson relied on Eddy's status as a "professional," and Eddy's determination of what was necessary to his diagnosis. (P, 288). It is apparent that Dr. Eddy was aware, prior to taking the stand, of the nature and existence of some of defendant's criminal history. (P, 288-289; R, 1292-1293, 1296, 1361-1362). There is absolutely no evidence to support Parker's conclusory statements, that Makemson's failure to provide information to Eddy, on defendant's criminal past, was the cause of Dr. Eddy's poor showing as a witness. Initial Brief, at 48-49. Further, it is sheer speculation, as to the impact such greater knowledge by Dr. Eddy would have had upon his testimony, or its effect on jury and judge.

Appellant has further challenged Makemson's alleged failure to present additional mitigation witnesses, particularly after his prior criminal record was explored, by cross-examination of Dr. Eddy. Parker asserts that more character witnesses were required, and that once Parker's criminal record was known, there was no longer any legitimate strategic reason, not to present such testimony. Dr. Eddy's testimony did not require a total abandonment of Makemson's strategy, to avoid "good character" witnesses. 11 Even in the face of Dr. Eddy's

In fact, Makemson was able to argue, from Dr. Eddy's testimony, that the nature of Parker's crimes (especially those involving property, and burglaries of empty places), was consistent with a passive,

cross-examination, Makemson clearly had no desire to present other character witnesses, which would consistently and repeatedly reinforce references to Parker's criminal record. (P, 291). Even as impeached, Dr. Eddy's testimony presented a far less devastating impact, than impeachment of family witnesses would have. (P, 155-156, 254). Furthermore, reinforcement of Parker's prior criminal history, would have only compounded the negative aspects of Parker's character, rather than limiting the State to "one shot" at such character. (P, 191, 192, 247-248). Counsel cannot be faulted, for failing to adduce witnesses and testimony, that clearly would have harmed Parker's prospects for a life sentence. Burger; Strickland; Cave; Jones; Harris.

The evidentiary hearing testimony, of Belinda Dickerson and Douglas Smith, <sup>12</sup> substantiates these conclusions. Ms. Dickerson's sole contribution, of an arguably positive nature, was that Parker would take her to the movies, and "riding," and taught the witness' sister (Parker's girl friend) how to drive. (P, 39-40). Otherwise, her testimony reinformed Parker's placement at the Okeechobee School for Boys; showed her lack of knowledge of his criminal past, reinforcing this aspect of character; her lack of knowledge of the facts

non-aggressive personality. (R, 1479-1482). Dr. Eddy suggested this himself, on cross-examination. (R, 1288, 1360, 1365-1366).

Dickerson and Smith were the only two live witnesses, presented by Appellant at the Rule 3.850 hearing. The remainder of Parker's supporting witnesses submitted affidavits, admitted by the Court.

of the Slater murder, reinforcing the crime and its surrounding circumstances; and her lack of any close personal contact with, or knowledge of Parker's activities, outside her house. (P, 42, 43). Douglas Smith's testimony was even more devastating. Smith, who did testify at sentencing, referred to Parker as the "leader of the house," who always tried to lead the family, as to "what he thought they ought to do," and had respect because of this quality. (P, 47-48). As Makemson stated, this evidence was completely contrary to the passive portrait of Parker that counsel sought to present. (P, 64, 65, 72-74; Burger; Strickland; Jones; Harris. This degree of testimony would have stressed Parker's negative attributes, "opened the door" to criminal history, and focused on Parker's participation in horrible, violent crimes, in a manner that was inconsistent with Makemson's reasonable strategy. Id.

Parker presented a proffer, and affidavits, from counsellors at the Okeechobee School for Boys, a juvenile detention facility.

(P, 142-145, 238 (affidavit of Gloria Marshall). This testimony would have reinforced the fact, and reasons for Parker's placement at such a facility. (P, 78-80; 271). This focus on prior crimes would have devastated Parker, on the subject of his criminal past, in a greater way than any other testimony. Even with such history elicited through one witness, Parker would not have benefitted from repetition of these circumstances. Marshall's characterization of Parker, as a "model" for the other boys at the school (P, 239), again presents Parker as leader, or possessing leadership qualities, that were wholly at odds with Makemson's strategic approach. Given the uncontested

testimony, as to the detrimental impact that such repeated references would have on a sentencing jury, Makemson clearly was not ineffective, for failing to consider or present such evidence.

An examination of the affidavit, submitted by Parker's family, friends and neighbors, does not demonstrate ineffectiveness of performance by trial counsel. Much of these statements, generally characterizing Parker as a non-violent child, generous, a good worker, and a follower-type personality, was too remote, from the time of the crime, to have had any beneficial impact. Cave, 529 So.2d, supra, at 298; Stone v. State, 481 So.2d 478 (Fla. 1985). Additionally, such testimony was largely cumulative, of evidence the jury heard at sentencing, concerning Parker's passive, non-violent nature, and his socioeconomic background as a migrant fruit-picker. Burger; Stone, supra; Lightbourne v. State, 471 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1985); Middleton, 465 So.2d, at 1223. References to Parker's non-violent nature as a child, would have emphasized his development into a more violent person, as he grew older, and would have strssed the contrast with the degree of violence in the murder Parker had just been convicted of, by the same jury. Burger. Statements by his mother, and by others, that Parker committed prior criminal acts, and had been involved in fights (P, 507-508; 546), would have made these character references more devastating to Parker. Id. Acts of generosity by Parker, of a general nature, was highly inconsistent with (and would have reemphasized) the lack of any mercy for Frances Slater. Id. The affidavits of Parker's mother and girl friend, would also have served to reiterate Parker's admission of a false alibi, initially

given to police, that he had been with them at the time of the crime. (P, 217; R, 737). This testimony would have established the mother's original support for the alibi (R, 721, 722), which could not have been more damaging, as impeachment, to Parker. These statements confirm the reasonableness of Makemson's approach, to stay away from character references, as much as possible. Furthermore, much of the information, between affidavits, was contradictory.

The testimony of Parker's fourth and fifth grade teachers (P, 548-555), besides being highly remote from the crime, was cumulative to evidence presented at sentencing, regarding Parker's personality, background and learning capabilities. Burger; Cave; Stone; Middleton. Furthermore, their statements, that Parker was not a discipline problem (R, 548, 552), would again have highlighted his subsequent crimes and incarcerations, as a highly negative factor. Burger; Strickland. Finally, any evidence that Parker was subject to domination by others, would have absolutely contradicted the facts in this case, including Parker's own admission to the shooting. Burger. Further, Makemson's emphasis on creating and sustaining credibility between his trial and sentencing approach, would have been destroyed, by a trial defense that denied guilt, and a sentencing strategy that would have necessarily admitted full involvement. Burger; Strickland.

None of Parker's live, or affidavit evidence, remotely approached fulfillment of his burden, to prove that, but for alleged omissions of counsel, the advisory jury and/or sentencing judge would have been reasonably likely to balance the aggravating and

mitigating circumstances, to recommend or impose life. Strickland; Cave; Blanco; Maxwell, supra; Middleton. As argued here, much of this information would have done far greater harm than good. More significantly, the overwhelming strength of the aggravating circumstances entered by the trial court (P, 569, 570), and unanimously approved by this Court on direct appeal, Parker, 476 So.2d, at 139-140, completely outweighs the very limited positive value, of Parker's evidentiary presentation. (Murder committed, during a robbery and kidnapping; committed for pecuniary gain; crime was "heinous, atrocious and cruel"; and crime was committed in a "cold, calculated and premeditated manner"). Burger; Strickland; Cave; Harris, supra; Bush, supra; Stone; Middleton. The attendant circumstances of this crime (P, 569-570), literally and heavily overwhelmed the extremely weak mitigation, found to exist, such as the conclusion that no rape occurred, and that Parker behaved himself during trial. This comparison cannot be overstated, and Parker's evidence would not have altered the sentencing outcome. Id.

In view of the uncontested evidence at the post-conviction hearing, showing that defense counsel's actions and strategies at sentencing were neither prejudicial or deficient, this Court should affirm the denial of relief, on this ground. <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>; <a href="Cave">Cave</a>; Bush.

## POINT III

STATE'S ARGUMENTS AT PARKER'S TRIAL AND SENTENCING, AND LACK OF DISCLOSURE OF THEORY OF CASE AND EVIDENCE AT CO-DEFENDANTS' TRIAL, TO PARKER'S JURY, DID NOT CONSTITUTE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, OR RESULT IN DUE PROCESS VIOLATION.

Parker has argued that the State should have disclosed its theory of the cases, and evidence elicited at the trials of Bush and Cave, to Parker's jury, to inform them of the State's alleged alternating identification of the "triggerman," at each of the three trials. Parker maintains that such alternate identification of each defendant as the "shooter," at each defendant's respective trial, demonstrated the State's uncertainty over the identity of the shooter. Appellant contends that the failure to disclose this fact, to Parker's jury, constituted prosecutorial misconduct, resulting in a due process violation. Initial Brief, at 56-58. This claim is a re-visiting of the exact same claim, rejected on both procedural and substantive grounds by this Court in Cave v. State, 529 So.2d, supra, at 295-296, and compels the same result in this case.

In <u>Cave</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court stated the issues, <u>inter alia</u>, as involving claims that the State improperly argued in Cave's trial, that Cave was the shooter, when it also argued that the co-defendants were the killers, in their separate trials. <u>Cave</u>, 529 So.2d, at 295. This Court defined the issue, as involving prosecutorial breach of ethics, and of the "prosecutor's responsibility to provide a fair trial." <u>Id</u>. This claim in <u>Cave</u>, thus exactly parallels the due process arguments, urged here. As resolved in <u>Cave</u>, this claim was

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